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Miranda Grimmer

From:
Sent: Monday, 17 March 2025 5:00 pm
To: Frances Walsh
Subject: Re: Follow up re: phonecall

Kei te tika, 
The only thing I wanted to feedback is that we are owners in Santoft forest as we have received a 
number of blocks back from Ernslaw and we have planted and are managing ourselves. 
We need to be included as landowners in the Fish & Game booklet for Santoft, our blocks are from 
Raumai Range north. 
The hunting kaupapa raises its head from time to time as we have people contact us directly to hunt 
in Santoft. We haven't got a designated response person for hunting at the Rūnanga but it is 
important for Fish & Game to be aware of changes in land ownership at Santoft and to keep comms 
open.  We had to close access to Santoft due to the fire risk at present so that would impact on 
people using the area and being aware of additional risks. 
Ngā mihi, 

 
 
Get Outlook for Android 

From: Frances Walsh <fwalsh@doc.govt.nz> 
Sent: Friday, March 14, 2025 1:54:38 PM 
To:  
Subject: RE: Follow up re: phonecall  
  
Kei te pai e hoa – your brain is full of so much other stuff!  
I think it was regarding the F&G review – responding to the Minister’s letter asking if you had any suggestions 
for how to improve their operations 놴놲놵놶놷놳  
   
Frances Walsh 
Ngāti Porou  

Ranger Community | Kaitiaki Ao Hāpori 
Palmerston North | Te Papaioea 
Mobile:   

www.doc.govt.nz  
   
From:   
Sent: Friday, 14 March 2025 1:38 pm 
To: Frances Walsh <fwalsh@doc.govt.nz> 
Subject: Follow up re: phonecall  
   
Kia ora Frances, 
   
Aroha mai - I've been wracking my brains trying to remember the specific kaupapa we spoke about on 
the phone the other day regarding permissions and I can't remember which one we were referring to 
but I did say I wanted to follow up with Chris as I thought we should put in a comment. 
Can you remind me please? Lol 
   
Ngā mihi, 
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Get Outlook for Android 

Caution - This message and accompanying data may contain information that is confidential or subject 
to legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient you are notified that any use, dissemination, 
distribution or copying of this message or data is prohibited. If you received this email in error, please 
notify us immediately and erase all copies of the message and attachments. We apologise for the 
inconvenience. Thank you. 
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OIAD-5325 Item 3 - Substantive information captured within internal 
correspondence between Department of Conservation staff 

 

In relation to item 3, DOC staff exchanged substantive contextual information that had 
been shared verbally in hui between DOC staff and Te Rūnanga o Ngā Wairiki Ngāti Apa. 
Please find a summary of this information below, Ngā Wairiki Ngāti Apa: 

• considered there to be synergies in the taiao space with Fish and Game New 
Zealand (Fish and Game) and considered they would work more closely together, 
although they currently do not. 

• shared that they consider statutory relationships to be important, noting that 
relationships can be difficult to manage when they are not formalised. 

• noted that Fish and Game have a responsibility to manage fisher/hunter access 
to some areas and in order for them to do that well they should understand and 
keep updated with who the land managers are. 

• raised concern about the Fish and Game process for their hunting permit 
booklet. Ngā Wairiki Ngāti Apa considered they were not given enough time to 
review, adequately consult iwi, and make comment on the booklet this year (they 
were given one week). This meant that this seasons booklet regarding the Santoft 
Forest will not include Ngā Wairiki Ngāti Apa’s perspective or requirements. 
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Miranda Grimmer

From: Courtney Kete
Sent: Friday, 24 January 2025 4:44 pm
To: taiao@rangitane.iwi.nz;  taiao@rangitane.co.nz
Cc: Ariana Hawira; Miranda Grimmer
Subject: Fish and Game - Minister of Hunting and Fishing seeking advice 

Tēnā koutou e te whānau,  
 

 The Minister for Hunting and Fishing is exploring potential ways to enhance the eƯectiveness and 
eƯiciency of Fish and Game.   

 This is in response to the Government’s commitment to support and strengthen Fish and Game, and 
in response to long-standing challenges that have been evidenced, for example, in the 2021 Review 
of the governance of Fish and Game New Zealand and the regional Fish and Game councils.  

 The Minister is interested in any views you might have that would make the Fish and Game council/s 
you work with more eƯective and eƯicient and support them to improve their relationships with iwi 
and others. 

 This is an information gathering phase. The intention is that the new Minister for Hunting and Fishing, 
Hon James Meager, will use feedback from this phase to inform his next steps.  

 The former Minister, Hon Todd McClay, wrote letters to Fish and Game New Zealand and 20 Post-
Settlement Governance Entities who have a statutory relationship or arrangement with Fish and 
Game in their settlement or deed for their views on how Fish and Game could be more eƯective and 
eƯicient. 

 With Rangitāne interest in Wairarapa Moana, Ōnoke and the Ruamāhanga awa and all the tributaries 
and the Manawatū awa and all its tributaries you should be looped into this kaupapa too as your 
kōrero is valuable.   

 We welcome your views in writing (or in person if preferred) to DOC by the end of February 2025 you 
can connect directly with Miranda Grimmer, DOC senior Policy Advisor, who is leading this mahi 
mgrimmer@doc.govt.nz and she can answer any queries you may have. 

 
Key messages: 
What do Fish and Game do? 

 Fish and Game New Zealand (Fish and Game), through the Conservation Act 1987, are mandated to 
manage, enhance, and maintain sports fish and game birds; and represent the interests of anglers 
and hunters.  

 The Minister for Hunting and Fishing (the Minister) works with Fish and Game on a regular basis to 
approve the licence fee and conditions for fishing and hunting sports fish and game birds, for 
example.  

 The Minister was previously the Hon Todd McClay but is now Hon James Meager.  

 

Why is the Minister considering changes to Fish and Game? 

 The Minister is exploring potential ways to enhance the eƯectiveness and eƯiciency of Fish and 
Game.  

9(2)(a)
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 This is in response to the Government’s commitment to support and strengthen Fish and Game, and 
in response to long-standing challenges that have been evidenced, for example, in the 2021 Review 
of the governance of Fish and Game New Zealand and the regional Fish and Game councils.  

 

Who has the Minister sent letters to? 

 The former Minister sent letters to all Fish and Game councils and 20 Post-Settlement Governance 
Entities  (PSGEs) who have a statutory relationship and/or arrangement with Fish and Game through 
their settlement or deed. The letter asks questions about what improvements could be made to the 
operation and governance of Fish and Game. 

 The former Minister also asked DOC, via their existing relationship channels, to ask similar questions 
of iwi and hapū who are yet to settle or who do not have a relationship and/or arrangement with Fish 
and Game in their settlement or deed. 

 Fish and Game councils were asked to provide their responses by 16 December 2024, with PSGEs 
having until end of February. 

 

What is the Minister seeking through the letter? 

 The former Minister intended the letters to support an information gathering phase.  

 The intention is that the new Minister will use feedback from the letters to inform his next steps over 
the coming term.  

 

Now that there is a change of Minister, who should PSGEs send their letter to? 
 PSGEs should send their response to James.MeagerMP@parliament.govt.nz  

 

Information for iwi and hapū without a statutory link to Fish and Game 

 For iwi and hapū who have been contacted by DOC, rather than by letter from the former Minister, we 
recommend providing their views in writing (or verbally if preferred) to DOC by the end of February 
2025.  

 

If asked, further information on scope for PSGEs, iwi and hapū 

 This work does not impact existing Treaty settlements.  

 The scope of this work is focused on opportunities to improve Fish and Game’s operation and 
governance. Iwi and hapū perspectives on this scope are sought.  

 

What does this mean for the Minister’s visits to regional Fish and Game councils? 

 DOC will be supporting the new Minister as he takes responsibility for the Hunting and Fishing 
Portfolio. Over the next few weeks, we will provide the new Minister with information and key 
decisions he needs to make. 

 At this stage, Minister visits to the regional Fish and Game councils are pending decisions from the 
new Minister.  
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Nāku iti noa, nā 

Courtney Kete 

Ngāti Kahungunu, Rangitāne, Ngāti Maniapoto, Whakatōhea, Ngāti Toa Rangatira 
Ranger, Community – Tiaki Taiao, Ao Hāpori  
Department of Conservation—Te Papa Atawhai 
M:  
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Minutes  
AOP: Authorising Environment Committee 

 

Minutes 

Date: 21/02/2025 Chair: Marama Edwards (MSD) 

Time: 9.00am-12.00pm Secretariat: Catriona Britton (DOC) 

Venue: 
MS Teams                                            

Room 2.1 Te Piringatahi, Ministry of Social Development, 56 The Terrace, Wellington 

Attendees: Marama Edwards (Chair - MSD), Kirsti Luke (TUT), Tāmati Kruger (TUT), Paul Jones 

(MBIE), Henry Weston (DOC), Lena Sapunova (DOC), Catriona Britton (DOC), Terry Slee 

(DOC – invited guest), Danielle Hart (DOC/TUT – invited guest) 

Apologies: Cat Wilson (DOC), Francis Toko (DOC) 

Opening 

• Meeting was opened with karakia. 

• Committee decided to leave administrative matters to the end, should there be time. 
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• Key messages regarding changes to Fish and Game: 

o Catriona explained the memo. Feedback on changes closing at end of February. Noting there 

is a new Minister responsible for Hunting and Fishing – Hon James Meager. 

o Kirsti and Tāmati indicated desire to meet with the Minister on this and matters relating to 

his other portfolios. Lena to pass that onto his Office (recorded as new action under 

AOP2425-27 in Actions Register). 

o  

 

• Kirsti to check wording of draft minutes for November AOP Committee hui (recorded as new 

action under AOP2425-27 in Actions Register). 

 

Close 

• Meeting was closed with karakia. 

Out of Scope

Out of Scope
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MEMO 

DATE: 21/02/2025 

TO: AOP: Authorising Environment Committee 

CC:  

FROM: Catriona Britton – Relationship Manager, Iwi Strategy 

SUBJECT: Generic key messages regarding changes to Fish and Game New Zealand 

Generic key messages 

Hon Todd McClay, then Minister for Hunting and Fishing, sent a letter to Te Uru Taumatua on 20 December 
2024 (Appendix One) seeking views on changes to the governance and operation of the Eastern Fish and 
Game Council and Fish and Game more generally.  

Due to Hon James Meager taking up the Ministerial portfolio for Hunting and Fishing, and the deadline for 
feedback approaching at the end of February, we considered it timely to reiterate generic key messages 
regarding these proposed changes in case TUT wished to submit feedback. 

What do Fish and Game do? 

• Fish and Game New Zealand (Fish and Game), through the Conservation Act 1987, are 
mandated to manage, enhance, and maintain sports fish and game birds; and represent the 
interests of anglers and hunters. 

• The Minister for Hunting and Fishing (the Minister) works with Fish and Game on a regular basis 
to approve the licence fee and conditions for fishing and hunting sports fish and game birds, for 
example. 

• The Minister was previously the Hon Todd McClay but is now Hon James Meager. 

Why is the Minister considering changes to Fish and Game? 

• The Minister has been exploring potential ways to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of Fish 
and Game. 

• This is in response to the Government’s commitment to support and strengthen Fish and Game, 
and in response to long-standing challenges that have been evidenced, for example, in the 2021 
Review of the governance of Fish and Game New Zealand and the regional Fish and Game 
councils. 

Who has the Minister sent letters to? 

• The former Minister sent letters to all Fish and Game councils and 20 post-settlement government 
entities (PSGEs) who have a statutory relationship and/or arrangement with Fish and Game 
through their settlement or deed. The letter asks questions about what improvements could be 
made to the operation and governance of Fish and Game. 

• The former Minister also asked DOC, via their existing relationship channels, to ask similar 
questions of iwi and hapū who are yet to settle or who do not have a relationship and/or 
arrangement with Fish and Game in their settlement or deed. 



DOC-XXXXXXX 

• Fish and Game councils were asked to provide their responses by 16 December 2024, with PSGEs 
having until the end of February 2025. 

What is the Minister seeking through the letter? 

• The former Minister intended the letters to support an information gathering phase. 
• The intention is that the new Minister will use feedback from the letters to inform his next steps over 

the coming term. 

Now that there is a change of Minister, who should PSGEs send their letter to? 

• PSGEs should send their response to James.MeagerMP@parliament.govt.nz  

Further information on scope for PSGEs, iwi and hapū 

• This work does not impact existing Treaty settlements. 
• The scope of this work is focused on opportunities to improve Fish and Game’s operation and 

governance. Iwi and hapū perspective on this scope are sought. 

What does this mean for the Minister’s visits to regional Fish and Game councils? 

• DOC will be supporting the new Minister as he takes responsibility for the Hunting and Fishing 
portfolio. Over the next few weeks, we will provide the new Minister with information and key 
decisions he needs to make. 

• At this stage, Minister visits to the regional Fish and Game councils are pending decisions from the 
new Minister. 
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Miranda Grimmer

From: Miranda Grimmer
Sent: Wednesday, 30 April 2025 2:59 pm
To: Laura West
Cc: Dolon Sarkar; Mary Craythorne; Nicola Molloy (Policy Manager); Patrick West-Oram
Subject: RE: For response by 29 April: Draft Cabinet paper Fish and Game

Kia ora Laura,  
 
Thanks very much for your feedback and apologies for not responding sooner! 
 
You’ve made some good suggestions below which we consider will likely be addressed during 
implementation (for example, further clarifying performance measures). We also considered how to 
pull in your suggestion on the Biosecurity Act, which we acknowledge is an important interaction, 
although with the page limit we had to make the call to cut that from the paper. 
 
Hope you have a good rest of your week and happy to keep you in the loop as work progresses 
 
Ngā mihi, 
Miranda  
 
From: Laura West <Laura.West@mpi.govt.nz>  
Sent: Tuesday, 29 April 2025 2:51 pm 
To: Miranda Grimmer <mgrimmer@doc.govt.nz> 
Cc: Dolon Sarkar <Dolon.Sarkar@mpi.govt.nz>; Mary Craythorne <Mary.Craythorne@mpi.govt.nz> 
Subject: RE: For response by 29 April: Draft Cabinet paper Fish and Game 
 
Kia ora Miranda,  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide comment on the attached draft Cabinet paper for the Fish and Game 
Governance and Organisational Improvements Amendment Bill and supporting RIS. We have consulted 
internally with our operational colleagues and our feedback is provided below:  
 

 Given the scope of the policy analysis and parameters in place, the package of proposals seems to be 
logical. However, we feel that the result still feels like a ‘top heavy’ governance model. This may be a 
direct result of the limited scope. The solution to reduce the councillor numbers and provide clarity 
around the option to merge regions should allow for the number of governors to reduce somewhat 
further as required.   
 

 Where noted that there are some Fish and Game Councils that will not agree with the proposals 
entirely, we do not anticipate any relationship risk in this for Biosecurity New Zealand.  
 

 We support the intention to improve decision making by including requirements to consider ‘other 
interests’. We also agree with the proposal to include this specifically in Fish and Game Council 
‘function’ and as part of the development of Sports Fish Game Management Plans (refer to Cab paper - 
Appendix One, (51-53). We agree that Treaty, Conservation, and impacts on other natural resources 
should be prioritised. 

 
 It may be useful to see additional clarity on how performance will be measured and to be clearer on the 

Bill’s interface with existing legislation such as the Biosecurity Act. 
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Department of Conservation | Te Papa Atawhai  
   
Please note that my usual working hours are Tuesday/Wednesday 9am – 5pm, Friday 7:30am – 3:30pm, 
and every second Monday 9am – 5pm.  
   
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
Sent: Wednesday, 30 April 2025 3:30 pm
To: Sanders, David
Cc: Papers2review@tearawhiti.govt.nz; Patrick West-Oram; Nicola Molloy (Policy 

Manager)
Subject: RE: For response by 29 April: Draft Cabinet paper Fish and Game

Kia ora David,  
 
Thanks very much for your response 
 
I note the change in name, and I have amended to ‘OƯice of Treaty Settlements and Takutai Moana - 
Te Tari Whakatau’  
 
I also note your point on iwi and hapū interests relating to Marine and Coastal Area (Takutai Moana) 
Act 2011, we will keep this in mind during the implementation phase as we see this interaction 
occurring in Fish and Game decision-making (for example the preparation of sports fish and game 
management plans).  
 
Hope you have a good rest of your week 
 
Ngā mihi, 
Miranda 
 
From: Sanders, David <David.Sanders@tearawhiti.govt.nz>  
Sent: Wednesday, 30 April 2025 1:12 pm 
To: Miranda Grimmer <mgrimmer@doc.govt.nz> 
Cc: Papers2review@tearawhiti.govt.nz 
Subject: FW: For response by 29 April: Draft Cabinet paper Fish and Game 
 
Kia ora Miranda, 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the draft Cabinet paper for the Fish and Game New 
Zealand Governance and Organisational Improvements Amendment Bill.  
 
Te Tari Whakatau has no general comment on the purpose of the proposed legislative changes to the 
Conservation Act to modernise and increase the operational eƯectiveness of the regional Fish & 
Game Councils, or their national coordinating body, the New Zealand Fish & Game Council.  
 
We note that there is no intention to change the purpose and functions of the New Zealand Fish & 
Game Council as are currently defined in the Conservation Act. 
 
We note (para 55) that 20 post-settlement governance entities have a statutory relationship or 
arrangement with Fish and Game specifies in their settlement act or deed but that the proposals do 
not intend to impact these relationships or arrangements. For example, Ngāi Tahu’s role as a 
statutory advisor to all South Island regional Fish and Game councils on matters relating to native 
game birds. 
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TTW support the proposal to “strengthen the requirement for Fish and Game to have regard to non-
hunting interests will better manage the impact on other resources and users of the habitat. For 
example, farming, aviation, conservation, and iwi and hapū interests will require more active 
consideration in Fish and Game decision-making.” (para 56). In respect of iwi and hapū interests, you 
may wish to footnote that this would include obligations under the Marine and Coastal Area (Takutai 
Moana) Act 2011 (such as wahi tapu provisions, and any kaitiakitanga management plans rights 
holders may have in place).  
 
Note re consultation (para 60) Te Arawhiti corporate name has changed to Te Tari Whaktau. 
 
Ngā mihi 
 
David 
 
 
 
 

  

David Sanders (he/him) 
SENIOR A NALYST  
CEL:     DDI:  

WEB: https://whakatau.govt.nz 

The Office of Treaty Settlements and Takutai Moana: 
Te Tari Whakatau 

Level 3, Justice Centre, 19 Aitken Street, SX10111, Wellington 6011
  

 

  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

From: Miranda Grimmer <mgrimmer@doc.govt.nz>  
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 3:53 PM 
To: Papers2review@tearawhiti.govt.nz; Caleb.Hewson@treasury.govt.nz; TPKinfo@tpk.govt.nz; 
Lisa.daniell@dpmc.govt.nz; Michael.Cameron@mfe.govt.nz; Pierre Tellier <pierre.tellier@mfe.govt.nz>; Helen 
Sharpe <Helen.Sharpe@mfe.govt.nz>; Jo Burton <Jo.Burton@mfe.govt.nz>; Bronte.Creighton-
Shaw@treasury.govt.nz; Ashleigh.Moss-Brown@treasury.govt.nz; Saskia.Vervoorn@mbie.govt.nz; 
Mary.Craythorne@mpi.govt.nz; Gina.Chamberlain@mpi.govt.nz; Amy Orr <Amy.Orr@pco.govt.nz>; Vitasovich, 
Saskia <saskia.vitasovich@justice.govt.nz>; enquiries@mfat.govt.nz; steven.riley@publicservice.govt.nz; Mat Powell 
<Mathew.Powell@publicservice.govt.nz>; nick.law@dia.govt.nz; Keith.Miller@dia.govt.nz; 
Andrew.Marshall@mfe.govt.nz; Carla.Gomez@mfe.govt.nz 
Cc: Nicola Molloy (Policy Manager) <nimolloy@doc.govt.nz>; Patrick West-Oram <pwestoram@doc.govt.nz>; Paul 
Sorensen <psorensen@doc.govt.nz>; Manon Roehrig <mroehrig@doc.govt.nz> 
Subject: For response by 29 April: Draft Cabinet paper Fish and Game 
 
Kia ora koutou, 
   
Following on from our email earlier in the week, please find attached the draft Cabinet paper “Fish 
and Game Governance and Organisational Improvements Amendment Bill” and supporting RIS for 
your feedback. These papers are also now circulating for Ministerial consultation. 
   

9(2)(a)
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It would be great to receive your feedback by COB Tuesday 29 April. We anticipate lodging the 
Cabinet paper on 1 May. 
   
Please note Paul Sorensen and Manon Roehrig will be your main contacts over 22-24 April 
   
Hope everyone has a good easter break! 
   
Ngā mihi, 
Miranda 
   
   
Miranda Grimmer  
Senior Policy Advisor | Hunting, Fishing, and Economic Development | Policy and Regulatory Services  
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

From: Sandra Woodhead
Sent: Wednesday, 2 July 2025 3:04 pm
To: Joanne de Lange; Karen Rainbow
Subject: FW: Key messages for Fish and Game 

I did send this to an individual member who wanted some key  messages – from Te Korowai  
 
Sandra Woodhead 
Operations Manager Whanganui District  
 
Phone:  

www.doc.govt.nz 

 
 

From: Sandra Woodhead <sawoodhead@doc.govt.nz>  
Sent: Thursday, 8 May 2025 12:13 pm 
To:  
Cc: Sarah Classens <sclassens@doc.govt.nz> 
Subject: Key messages for Fish and Game  
 
Morena , 
 
These are the key messages that went to all PSGE for Iwi ( link attached )– if you have any thoughts 
please let me know and I will pass onto the minister’s team – such as extending the length of time for 
licences. 
 
Hon James Meager is the Minister for Hunting and Fishing,  
 
Key messages: 
 
What do Fish and Game do? 

 Fish and Game New Zealand (Fish and Game), through the Conservation Act 1987, are 
mandated to manage, enhance, and maintain sports fish and game birds; and represent the 
interests of anglers and hunters.  

 The Minister for Hunting and Fishing (the Minister) works with Fish and Game on a regular 
basis to approve the licence fee and conditions for fishing and hunting sports fish and game 
birds, for example.  

 The Minister was previously the Hon Todd McClay but is now Hon James Meager.  

Why is the Minister considering changes to Fish and Game? 

9(2)(a)
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 The Minister is exploring potential ways to enhance the eƯectiveness and eƯiciency of Fish 
and Game.  

 This is in response to the Government’s commitment to support and strengthen Fish and 
Game, and in response to long-standing challenges that have been evidenced, for example, in 
the 2021 Review of the governance of Fish and Game New Zealand and the regional Fish and 
Game councils.  

Who has the Minister sent letters to? 

 The former Minister sent letters to all Fish and Game councils and 20 Post-Settlement 
Governance Entities  (PSGEs) who have a statutory relationship and/or arrangement with Fish 
and 

Ngaa mihi  
 
Sandy  
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Attachment C: Summary of policy development to date 

Minister McClay has made initial decisions on policy direction 

1. Policy decisions made to date have not been taken to Cabinet and therefore have not 

been discussed publicly. However, Minister McClay has signalled publicly that he was 

looking to modernise and refocus Fish and Game.  

2. The intention has been to target engagement with Fish and Game to build relationships, 

gather views on the existing model, and pave the way for final policy decisions. Views 

from specific Post-Settlement Governance Entities (PSGEs) with a statutory relationship 

or arrangement with Fish and Game in their settlement act or deed have also been 

approached for views.  

Long-standing challenges to address within current structure 

3. Reports of dysfunction and complaints relating to Fish and Game’s governance and 
regulatory practice have coloured the perception of the organisation over the years. 
Fish and Game themselves acknowledge the need for change, particularly regarding 
internal relationships and to address the recent trending down of licence sales. 

4. The Government has committed to “support Fish and Game”. Minister McClay agreed 
the objectives for Fish and Game would be to:  

• Ensure confidence in regulatory performance 

• Provide for effective governance and accountability  

• Ensure value for money for licence holders through efficient use of resources 

5. The scope of policy work would: 

• be narrowed to addressing challenges but retaining the benefits of Fish and 
Game’s current regional and national structure and governance; the intention was 
not to conduct a wholesale review of Fish and Game’s role, or options for others 
within the system to perform their functions instead; but 

• be broader than the Ministerially commissioned 2021 Governance Review. The 
Governance Review scope was limited to governance and structure only, and was 
unable to consider the spilt or balance of Fish and Game functions between the 
regional and national levels;  

• existing Treaty settlements would not be impacted. 

Move towards modernising and refocusing Fish and Game 

6. These challenges stem from Fish and Game’s legislative settings. These settings 
create:  

• variable governance performance resulting from weak accountability practice 
(disengaged licence holders and inability for the NZC to drive change) 

• inefficient use of licence holder funds due to the autonomous and federated 
structure of FGCs (duplication of effort and little cohesion).  

7. This ultimately results in outcomes that do not always deliver the best service to 
licence holders or impact on others in the community including aviation, farmers, and 
iwi and hapū. 

8. Modernising and refocusing Fish and Game should result in a more trusted, 
accountable, and cohesive organisation that provides value for money for its licence 
holders. The intention has been to support regional FGCs to focus on providing value 
at place while the NZC would be enabled to drive improvements and strategic 
direction. 
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A framework for change has been provisionally agreed 

9. Minister McClay provisionally agreed to a framework for change, and a coherent 
package of measures. The key elements of the framework are: 

Shifting more decision-making authority to NZC, in consultation with FGCs, for 
efficiency and effectiveness 

• Key elements of the shift include:  

o NZC collecting licence fees and redistributing funds based on an allocation 
model (core functions funded first, remainder distributed according to 
angler/hunter activity, and a contestable fund).  

o NZC could develop binding national policies (in consultation with FGCs) to 
create consistency across both core (e.g. compliance, monitoring, advocacy) 
and corporate (e.g. salaries, job descriptions, health and safety) functions. This 
includes standard forms/templates for planning and reporting. 

• This would ensure greater rationalisation of budgeting decisions and value for 
money; create cohesion across the organisation and strategic direction for advocacy; 
and improve performance monitoring and accountability. It also provides for local 
decision-making over local issues (e.g. species management and habitat), which is 
considered to be the cornerstone of Fish and Game. 

Decision-making supported by improved and updated governance practice 

• To support the shift in NZC decision-making authority and overall governance practice 
changes include:  

 NZC would be formed of chairs of FGCs to maintain regional link and 
recognising the importance of decisions being made by NZC. 

 A reduction in the number of councillors in each FGC from ‘up to 12’ to ‘up to 7’.  

 Minister would be able to appoint up to two councillors to FGCs as necessary in 
exceptional circumstances and strengthened power to remove councillors for 
“just cause” to provide interventions where Fish and Game are unable to 
resolve issues within the organisation. 

 Increased eligibility to vote or stand in elections (e.g. opt-in and wider than just 
whole season licence holders), including a fit and proper test, to improve 
diversity of views on councils and calibre of councillors. 

 An ‘honorarium’ payment, funded by the licence fee, to recognise the service 
provided by councillors and potentially encourage for a wider range of 
candidates. 

 A raft of other governance measures that would bring Fish and Game into step 
with practice in other entities.   

 Greater consideration of non-hunting and fishing interests by Fish and Game 
particularly where safety or protection of highly threatened fish species are at 
risk to improve outcomes for wider communities, including iwi and hapū.  

Flexibility to enable further efficiencies  

• One of the main recommendations from the Governance Review was to reduce the 
number of councils by merger. This was the primary recommendation to create 
efficiencies, because the shift of functions (an alternative way to create efficiencies) 
was out of scope of the Governance Review. Minister McClay agreed to retain twelve 
FGCs but provide for better enabling the merger of regions (voluntarily or at Minister 
direction) in the future. No mergers are proposed as part of this programme of work.  
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10. The intention is that information gathered through the informal engagement stage 
would inform refinements to this framework to support final policy decisions. 
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Attachment D: Analysis of Fish and Game New Zealand responses to Minister 
McClay’s November letters 

More decision-making authority to the New Zealand Council (NZC) likely to be biggest 
point of contention  

1. While most councils support becoming a more cohesive organisation to produce 
efficiencies and effectiveness and centralising the licence fee collection, exactly how to 
get there varies. In-principle the proposed allocation model (to fund core functions first, 
with remainder distributed according to angler/hunter activity and a contestable fund) is 
likely to be supported by most, although we note that ‘buy-in’ or ability for Fish and 
Game Councils (FGCs) to influence this model - that would in future be under the 
control of NZC- will be key. 

2.  are likely to oppose 
greater decision-making authority for NZC due to concerns of loss of regional 
autonomy.  to a lesser degree, share this concern and 
propose an improved coordination role for NZC and emphasises that NZC should not 
control.  

General support for improvements to governance practice and decision-making  

3. Views largely align with proposals to improve eligibility to vote (e.g. opt-out enrolment 
as opposed to status quo which requires licence holders to opt-in to enrolment to vote) 
and stand for election (wider than just whole season licence holders). There was also 
general agreement that the number of councillors on each FGC could be reduced to 
support improved decision-making but maintain a range of views. 

4. However, the fit and proper person test and criteria to remove councillors both had 
mixed opinions. Some councils felt the fit and proper person test would create extra 
hurdles (potentially resulting in reduced candidates) or add bureaucracy. Some 
councils think legislation is fine as is to remove councillors, should exhaust all internal 
avenues before going to Minister, and need good reasons and criteria. 

Neutral or little support to merge regions or receive an honorarium 

5. There was some support for merging regions, if evidence supported efficiencies. 
However, most councils did not want to merge and saw other avenues to creating 
efficiencies and improving effectiveness. Five councils suggested redefining council 
boundaries as an opportunity to create efficiencies from a management of the physical 
resource perspective. 

6. 11 of the 13 councils did not support an honorarium, which would provide councillors 
with a payment for performing their functions and duties paid for by licence holder 
fees. The honorarium was generally unsupported and particularly at a regional FGC 
level. There was some support for an honorarium if it increased younger candidates or 
provided compensation for the increasing workload of NZC. Although overall councils 
felt this was not in keeping with the ethos of the role.  

Biggest source of tension between NZC and FGCs is communications and funding 

7. Some councils noted they have a good working relationship with NZC (for example, 
 Suggestions to improve the 

relationship between NZC and FGCs were to increase transparency of decision-
making and NZC spending and communications. There is a perception that NZC is 
taking money away from FGCs and reducing what they can do for their licence 
holders.    

Most see regional link to NZC and certainty of position as important  

8. Generally, most councils saw a need to maintain the regional link to NZC (apart from 
 and are less supportive of Ministerial appointments particularly if not 

from the pool of licence holders. 

9(2)(g)(i)

9(2)(g)(i)

9(2)(g)(i)

9(2)(g)(i)
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9. Most councils saw a need to create certainty of position on NZC, with some councils 
suggesting that a NZC representative only be removed by their FGC by Ministerial 
approval or resignation.  

 

  





 
IN-CONFIDENCE 

Minister for Hunting and Fishing, Minister for Hunting and Fishing’s office, and Department of Conservation eyes 
only. 

Status Report Minister for Hunting and Fishing 6 – week beginning 24 March 2025   Page 2 of 2 

Contact: Sam Thomas, Director Policy:  

 

9(2)(a)



 

  

Briefing: Fish and Game New Zealand draft 
Cabinet paper 

To Minister for Hunting and Fishing 
Date 
submitted 

16 April 2025 

Action sought 

Approve draft Fish and Game New 
Zealand (Fish and Game) Cabinet 
paper for agency and ministerial 
consultation. 

Priority Very High 

Reference 25-B-0157 DocCM DOC-10237238 

Security Level In Confidence 

 

Risk 
Assessment 

Medium 

Timeframes are tight to meet 
immediate Cabinet deadlines and 
support your objective to pass 
legislation this term. Fish and Game, 
Treaty partners, and other interested 
parties may regard the Cabinet 
decisions and subsequent 
announcement as unexpected. The 
communications plan should mitigate 
some risks. 

Timeframe 

17 April 2025 

Feedback required by 
17 April to begin 
agency and 
ministerial 
consultation over 22-
29 April (five working 
days) to lodge 
Cabinet paper by 1 
May. 

Attachments 

Attachment A – Draft Cabinet paper – Fish and Game New Zealand 
Governance and Organisational Improvements Amendment Bill 

Attachment B – Draft Regulatory Impact Statement – Strengthening and 
improving Fish and Game New Zealand 

 

Contacts 

Name and position Phone 

Sam Thomas – Director, Policy   

Nicola Molloy – Manager, Hunting, Fishing, and Economic Development  

  

9(2)(a)

9(2)(a)





25-B-0157 – Fish and Game New Zealand draft Cabinet paper 

3 

b)  Note Agency and Ministerial consultation will run over 22 – 29 
April (five working days) subject to your feedback on the draft 
Cabinet paper. 

Noted 

c)  Note the draft RIS must be circulated with the draft Cabinet 
paper for Ministerial consultation. A final version will be lodged 
with the final Cabinet Paper.  

Noted 

d)  Discuss your preferences for an announcement at your meeting 
with officials on 30 April. 

Yes / No 

 

 

 

Date:     /     /                             Date:     /     /           

Sam Thomas 
Director, Policy 
 

  
Hon James Meager 
Minister for Hunting and Fishing  

Purpose – Te aronga 

1. To support your priority to modernise and improve Fish and Game, this briefing 
provides you with:  

• a draft Fish and Game Governance and Organisational Improvements Amendment 
Bill Cabinet paper for your feedback and approval to circulate for agency and 
ministerial consultation 

• initial advice on how you could communicate Cabinet decisions with key 
stakeholders, Treaty partners, and other interested parties  

• the draft RIS for your information. The RIS must also be circulated as part of 
Ministerial and Agency consultation. 

Background and context – Te horopaki 

2. You intend to pass legislation this term to support Fish and Game to be more efficient 
and effective. You made final policy decisions on 11 April to support this objective [24-
B-0147 refers].  

3. These decisions are reflected in the draft Cabinet paper at Attachment A. 

4. This paper seeks Cabinet approval to begin drafting a Bill to introduce your proposed 
reforms. These proposals will improve Fish and Game’s effectiveness and provide 
better value for money for their licence holders. Your proposals are a key priority for 
your Hunting and Fishing portfolio and support wider Government objectives to tackle 
cost of living challenges and grow economic activity. 

5. To meet your objectives, the draft Cabinet paper steps out a package of proposals. We 
propose that you briefly outline the key proposals in the paper, with fuller detail 
contained in the Schedule to the paper. The paper also sets out your proposal for a 
stand-alone Fish and Game Act.  

 
 

6. The paper sets out your broad intent to: 

9(2)(h)
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• maintain regional decision making over local matters, which is the cornerstone of 
the organisation, by focusing local knowledge and resource on improving hunting 
and fishing opportunities for their region  

• no longer require individual regional councils to spend time on some administrative 
activities, where they are more effectively done by the National Council 

• strengthen the leadership role of the National Council to set clear, coherent 
direction, collect the licence fee, and disperse it so it better supports the core 
functions of the organisation, including getting funds to where they are needed to 
support angler and hunter activity 

• improve the ‘user pays, user says’ system and how Fish and Game make 
decisions, including how it considers non-hunting and fishing interests in decision-
making 

• strengthen checks and balances to improve accountabilities and transparency and 
provide adequate backstops so that the responsible Minister can intervene as 
necessary in exceptional circumstances 

• more generally modernise the organisation in line with other entities to support 
further efficiencies and effectiveness.  

7. In line with this broad policy intent, we also propose in the Cabinet paper that you seek 
delegated authority to make other minor and technical changes.  

8. The Bill is a category five (referred to select committee in 2025) priority in the 2025 
Legislative Programme. 

Communicating your proposals following Cabinet approval 

Timing  

9. We understand you would like to publicly announce your intention to introduce a Bill 
shortly after Cabinet agrees to proceed with drafting legislation, preferably before 
Budget night 2025 (scheduled for 22 May).   

10. This would mean making an announcement between 12 May (expected Cabinet 
approval) and 22 May (Budget night 2025). DOC can provide communications material 
to support an announcement at this point.  

11. However, we note that this period coincides with a busy time for Fish and Game, who 
will be managing the opening weeks of game bird season which commences on 5 
May. It may be difficult for Fish and Game – particularly regional councils – to review 
the proposals and respond to any requests for comment, or to meet with you to 
discuss your proposals. DOC also notes you plan to introduce Herds of Special 
Interest (HOSI) legislation and may be in a position to make an announcement on 
commencing a wapiti Herd Management Plan statutory process, in this same window. 

12. Other options are available: 

• Make a public announcement at an event, to media and a wider group of interested 
parties, including Fish and Game after Budget 2025 night. This option is more time 
intensive but would allow you to reach a wider group of interested parties more 
directly. Holding an event after Budget night would provide more time to arrange a 
suitable event and/or arrange to meet key individuals to provide advanced 
notification, avoiding a busy period for Fish and Game. We understand a 
Parliamentary Game Bird Hunt, organised by Fish and Game, is pencilled-in for 
mid-June, and a meeting of the New Zealand Council is scheduled for 17/18 June. 
You may also wish to hold a closed meeting with Fish and Game shortly before a 
public announcement to provide them with advance notice of your proposal to 
introduce a Bill.  
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• Hold a closed meeting with Fish and Game, followed by a media statement. This 
option is less time intensive, while still allowing you to ensure that Fish and Game 
is informed directly by you and that other interested parties are alerted to your 
announcement. This could be before or after Budget night, noting the limitations 
outlined above will affect Fish and Game availability. This would have a lower 
impact than a public announcement through an event opportunity but would still be 
picked up by interested parties. DOC could also promote this via our social media 
channels should this be your preference. 

13. In all cases, we recommend providing advanced notice to key individuals (e.g. Chair 
and CEO of Fish and Game) about an announcement. This would be an important part 
of staging any announcement, ensuring Fish and Game is prepared to respond. 

14. An early steer on your preferences would be helpful. You can also discuss this, and 
other communications across your hunting and fishing portfolio, with officials at your 
meeting on 30 April.  

15. DOC is preparing a fuller communications plan and supporting material, which we will 
share with your office in due course.  

16. We recommend that you release the Cabinet paper (with any necessary redactions) to 
coincide with your announcement. The Cabinet Manual states that Cabinet papers 
must be released within 30 days of Cabinet decisions unless there is a specific reason 
not to. We do not believe this Cabinet paper meets the grounds for withholding.  

Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) process 

17. The draft RIS is provided at Attachment B. It supports Cabinet to make well informed 
decisions on the policy changes you are proposing to make to Fish and Game. It 
includes policy analysis that has informed our advice and recommendations. It is 
currently being reviewed by the Regulatory Impact Assessment Panel (RIAP), which 
comprises of DOC policy officials who have not worked on these policy proposals.  

18. The RIS is a departmental document, so the final content is at the discretion of the 
agency. However, you can provide comment should you wish to. The draft RIS must 
be circulated as part of Ministerial and Agency consultation.  

19. We will make any changes required by the RIAP and attach the final version of the RIS 
to the final Cabinet Paper along with a declaration of whether the RIS meets, partially 
meets, or fails to meet the requirements. We expect the RIS will likely receive a 
‘partially meets’ (due to lack of public consultation on the policy proposals). 

Risk assessment – Aronga tūraru 

20. Timeframes are tight to pass legislation this term. Quick turnaround of this paper will 
mitigate some of this risk, enabling us to lodge the paper for the earliest possible 
Cabinet opportunity (ECO on 7 May). Agency and Ministerial consultation are running 
over the Easter and ANZAC holidays which may impact ability to respond. Any delays 
to completing Ministerial consultation would slip lodgement, with the next opportunity 
for discussion at ECO on 14 May.  

21. Fish and Game, Treaty partners, and other interested parties are unlikely to fully 
expect the Cabinet decisions and subsequent announcement of a Bill being drafted 
without wider consultation. We anticipate that your proposals will likely generate both 
positive and negative reactions from councils and their councillors. Those who are not 
supportive are likely to be vocal, raising concerns through the media and encouraging 
licence holders to write in opposition to the proposals.  

22. The communications plan focuses on relationship management which may mitigate 
some of this risk, as will informing Fish and Game’s CEO and NZC Chair.  
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Treaty principles (section 4) – Ngā mātāpono Tiriti (section 4)   

23. Section 4 of the Conservation Act 1987 (the Act) directs that the Act shall so be 
interpreted and administered as to give effect to the principles of the Treaty (and 
extends to all legislation listed in Schedule 1 of that Act, which includes the Wildlife Act 
1953). The section 4 directive applies to the development of your policy decisions, and 
to all decisions taken by Fish and Game at both the national and regional levels. 

24. The informal targeted engagement approach goes some way towards meeting section 
4 obligations, noting the next opportunity for engagement is the Select Committee 
stage once a Bill is introduced.  

25. From the feedback received to date from specific Post-Settlement Governance Entities 
and iwi and hapū contacted via DOC’s existing relationship channels, DOC does not 
recommend any new or revised policy proposals. DOC notes that policy proposals 
relating to improving the consideration of non-hunting and fishing interests in Fish and 
Game decision-making and the possibility of Ministerial appointments may go some 
way towards improving outcomes for iwi and hapū. 

26. DOC does not anticipate the proposals in this paper will have any impacts on 
Settlement Acts or Deeds, including Ngāi Tahu’s role as a statutory advisor to all 
South Island FGCs on matters relating to native game birds.  

27. Further information is included in briefing 25-B-0120. 

Consultation – Kōrero whakawhiti 

28. DOC has not consulted other agencies in the development of this briefing. Agency and 
Ministerial consultation on the draft Cabinet paper and RIS will be over 22-29 April. 

29. Fish and Game, Treaty partners, and other interested parties have not been consulted 
or engaged on your policy proposals themselves. We expect the Select Committee 
process will provide this opportunity. 

30. Further information is included in briefing 25-B-0120. 

Financial implications – Te hīraunga pūtea 

31. There are no financial implications arising from this paper. 

32. Proposals, such as remuneration for certain roles, may incur additional costs. 
However, these would be borne by Fish and Game rather than the Crown [briefing 25-
B-0120 refers]. 

Legal implications – Te hīraunga a ture 

33. You are seeking Cabinet agreement to draft a Bill for introduction to the House later in 
the year. Subject to that agreement we will be working with the PCO to prepare a Bill. 
We will keep you informed once work commences. 

Next steps – Ngā tāwhaitanga 

34. Next steps: 

• We are aiming for lodgement on 1 May for discussion at ECO on 7 May and 
Cabinet on 12 May.  

• To support this, your feedback on the draft Cabinet paper is needed by Thursday 
17 April.  

• We will circulate the draft Cabinet paper with other government agencies over 22-
29 April, in support of parallel Ministerial consultation managed by your office.  
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• We will provide you with talking points by 5 May to support the ECO meeting. DOC 
will be available to support you at the ECO meeting should you require. 

• There are opportunities to discuss feedback from Ministerial consultation, and a 
communications plan, at your meeting with officials on 30 April.  

ENDS 

 






































































































































